A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred by denying appellant Steven Sandoz's 

motion to suppress evidence because the State failed to prove the police 

officer had reasonable suspicion to believe Sandoz was engaging In 

criminal activity at the time he detained him for investigation. 

2. The trial court erred by making the following findings of 

fact in support of its denial because none of the findings is supported by 

substantial evidence: 1 

• The driver of the Jeep in question told the officer he 
received a call from Sandoz asking to be picked up at the 
apartment building at issue. CP 50 (FOF 8). 

• Sandoz told the officer he was at the apartment to pay a 
resident money he owed. CP 51 (FOF 14). 

• The pipe recovered from Sandoz had residue on it. CP 51 
(FOF 14). 

• One of the envelopes seized from Sandoz contained 7.3 
grams of suspected cocaine, and the second contained 1.9 
grams of suspected cocaine. CP 52 (FOF 21). 

• The suspected cocaine tested positive for cocaine in a field 
test. CP 52 (FOF 22). 

1 A copy of the trial court's findings of fact (FOF) and conclusions of law 
(COL) is attached as Appendix A. 



Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. A police officer observed Sandoz leave the apartment of a 

woman known to have drug-related convictions, saw Sandoz act surprised 

and nervous, heard conflicting stories from Sandoz and his friend as to 

why they were there, observed the friend slouch down in the seat of his 

parked Jeep as the officer drove by, and had the authority to trespass 

individuals who did not belong on the property. Were these circumstances 

sufficient to support a reasonable suspicion that Sandoz was engaging in 

criminal activity? 

2. Were the trial court's challenged findings of fact in support 

of its denial of Sandoz's motion to suppress evidence proven by substantial 

evidence? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE2 

SeaTac police officers regularly watched a particular six-unit 

apartment building on the southwest side of town because of the unusually 

high number of documented criminal incidents that occurred there. Four 

of the residents had drug-related convictions. 1 RP 16-17.3 The building 

2 This factual recitation is based on testimony presented by the arresting 
officer during a combined hearing under CrR 3.5 and CrR 3.6. 

3 The verbatim report of proceedings is cited as follows: 1 RP - 113113; 
2RP 117113; 3RP -- 211/13. 
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owner gave police permission to cite anyone for trespass who did not 

belong on the property. lRP 51-52, 57-58. 

On a late May night, Officer Chris Przygocki drove by the building 

and observed a white Jeep parked in a no-parking space in front of the 

building. lRP 16-18, 38. He knew each tenant as well as the type of car 

each had because he had been watching the building for about five months. 

lRP 16-18. Przygocki had never seen the Jeep before and it did not 

belong to any of the residents. 1 RP 58. As he drove by the Jeep, 

Przygocki observed the man in the driver's seat "slumped down." lRP 18, 

35-37. He drove past the Jeep, turned around, and parked his marked 

patrol car about 15 or 20 yards away. 1 RP 14-15, 18-19. 

Przygocki sat in his car and watched the Jeep, which did not move 

for 15 minutes. None of the three occupants left and no one came to the 

vehicle. lRP 19. Przygocki decided to contact the occupants. He left his 

car, walked up to the Jeep's driver, and asked him what he was doing. 

1 RP 19-20. The driver said he was there because he had gotten a call from 

a friend. 1 RP 20. Przygocki walked around to the passenger side of the 

Jeep and then saw Sandoz leave the apartment of a woman with a history 

of drug convictions. 1 RP 17, 20. Sandoz had his head down and walked 
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toward the Jeep. When he looked up and saw Przygocki, Sandoz's "eyes 

got big" and he climbed into the Jeep. lRP 21, 33, 48. 

Przygocki asked him what was going on, and Sandoz replied his 

friend had given him a ride so he could collect $20 from the woman. 

Sandoz was visibly shaking, and his face looked pale and thin. 1 RP 21. 

Przygocki became suspicious because Sandoz's explanation for being there 

contradicted the driver's. 1 RP 21. So he asked Sandoz "if he would mind 

stepping outside the car and just talking with" him. lRP 21-22. Sandoz 

complied and walked toward the rear of the Jeep. 1 RP 22. 

Had Sandoz refused, Przygocki said he would have detained him 

for investigation of or arrested him for drug-related loitering under the 

SeaTac municipal code. 1 RP 42, 46, 50-52, 56-57. 

Przygocki described Sandoz as an "honest" and "nice" person. 

lRP 23. He again asked Sandoz what was going on. Sandoz said he was 

there to collect $20 from the woman inside the apartment. 22-23. After a 

bit more conversation, Sandoz admitted he had a drug problem and said he 

had a pipe in his pocket. 1 RP 23-24, 59-60. He produced the pipe and 

Przygocki arrested him for possession of drug paraphernalia. 1 RP 23-24. 

In a search incident to arrest, Przygocki felt something in Sandoz's 

groin area. He then read Sandoz his rights. Sandoz said what Przygocki 
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felt was cocaine stored in two small envelopes concealed in his underwear. 

1RP 24-27, 46-47, 53. He also claimed the woman in the apartment set 

him up. 1RP 26-27. Przygocki retrieved the envelopes. 1RP 26-27. 

As Przygocki transported Sandoz to jail, Sandoz admitted he had a 

drug problem and asked for help. lRP 28-29. He also mentioned he was 

"coming off' of narcotics. 1RP 29. 

The State charged Sandoz with cocame posseSSIOn. CP 1-4. 

Sandoz moved to suppress his statements and the cocaine. CP 6-15. He 

contended he was seized from the moment Przygocki asked him to get out 

of the Jeep. CP 10-11. The seizure, Sandoz argued, was not supported by 

a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. CP 12-15. 

The trial court agreed Przygocki seized Sandoz when he asked him 

to exit the Jeep. CP 52-53; lRP 101. Contrary to Sandoz's argument, 

however, the trial court held Przygocki had specific and articulable facts to 

support the seizure. 1 RP 102. They were: extremely high rate of drug 

activity at the apartment; the woman who lived in the apartment from 

which Sandoz emerged was involved with drugs and had drug convictions; 

Przygocki was authorized by the building owner to trespass non-occupants 

who were loitering on the property; Przygocki did not recognize the Jeep; 

the driver appeared to try to hide when Przygocki drove by; the driver and 
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Sandoz gave differing explanations for their presence; and Sandoz 

appeared surprised when he saw Przygocki, was shaking and looked pale. 

CP 53-54; lRP 102-03. The trial court denied Sandoz's motion to 

suppress evidence. CP 54. 

The trial court also denied the motion to suppress statements. The 

court concluded Sandoz was not in custody when he admitted he had the 

pipe. The court also concluded all Sandoz's statements made after the 

advisement of his rights were admissible because Sandoz voluntarily 

waived his rights. CP 48; lRP 103-04. 

Sandoz waived his right to a jury trial and stipulated to a bench 

trial based on specified documentary evidence. CP 23, 26-28; 2RP 8-14. 

The trial court reviewed the evidence and found Sandoz guilty as charged. 

CP 41-43; 2RP 20-21. The court imposed a residential treatment-based 

drug offender sentencing alternative consisting of 24 months community 

custody and three months to six months of inpatient chemical dependency 

treatment. The court ordered Sandoz to stay out of the SeaTac anti-drug 

emphasis area. CP 29-37. 
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C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE INVESTIGATIVE DETENTION WAS UNLAWFUL 
BECAUSE IT WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE 
ESTABLISHING A SUBSTANTIAL POSSIBILITY 
THAT SANDOZ WAS ENGAGED IN CRIMINAL 
ACTIVITY. 

Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution provides "[n]o 

person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, 

without authority of law." Unlike the Fourth Amendment, which 

precludes only "unreasonable" searches and seizures without a warrant, 

article I, section 7 prohibits any disturbance of an individual's private 

affairs "without authority of law," whether reasonable or unreasonable in 

the Fourth Amendment context. State v. Valdez, 167 Wn.2d 761, 771-72, 

224 P.3d 751 (2009). 

A warrantless search is per se unconstitutional under article I, 

section 7 unless it falls within an exception to the warrant requirement. 

State v. Rankin, 151 Wn.2d 689,695,92 P.3d 202 (2004). "Exceptions to 

the warrant requirement are limited and narrowly drawn." State v. Parker, 

139 Wn.2d 486, 496, 987 P.2d 73 (1999). The State always carries the 

"heavy burden" of proving a warrantless search is justified. State v. Jones, 

146 Wn.2d 328, 335, 45 P.3d 1062 (2002); State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 

343, 350, 979 P.2d 833 (1999). The showing must be by clear and 
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convincing evidence. State v. Doughty, 170 Wn.2d 57, 62, 239 P.3d 573 

(2010). 

One exception to the warrant requirement permits police officers to 

briefly stop and detain a person they reasonably suspect is engaged in 

criminal conduct. State v. Day, 161 Wn.2d 889, 895, 168 P.3d 1265 

(2007). There must be a substantial possibility of criminal activity. State 

v. Duncan, 146 Wn.2d 166, 179,43 P.3d 513 (2002). This is commonly 

referred to as a "Terry" stop. Day, 161 Wn.2d at 895.4 The facts justifying 

a Terry stop must be more consistent with criminal than with innocent 

conduct. State v. Pressley, 64 Wn. App. 591, 596, 825 P.2d 749 (1992). 

The State must establish the warrant exception by clear and convincing 

evidence. State v. Garvin, 166 Wash. 2d 242, 250, 207 P.3d 1266, 1270 

(2009). 

The trial court concluded Officer Przygocki effectuated a valid 

Terry stop when he asked Sandoz to step out of the Jeep. The question is 

whether the totality of the circumstances known to the officer supported 

his suspicion at that moment. State v. Rowe, 63 Wn. App. 750, 753, 822 

P.2d 290 (1991), overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Bailey, 109 

Wn. App. 1, 3, 34 P.3d 239 (2000). This includes the officer's experience, 

4 Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1,88 S. Ct. 1868,20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968). 
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the location of the detention, and the suspect's conduct. State v. Glover, 

116 Wn.2d 509, 514, 806 P.2d 760 (1991). This is a legal question this 

Court reviews de novo. State v. Gaddy, 152 Wn.2d 64, 70, 93 P.3d 872 

(2004). 

Przygocki knew a rash of criminal activity had occurred at the 

apartment building, including possession of drugs with intent to deliver by 

the tenant of the apartment Sandoz departed. Presence in a high-crime 

area, even late at night, does not alone justify an investigative detention. 

State v. Doughty, 170 Wn.2d 57, 62, 239 P.3d 573 (2010). As the 

Doughty Court held, police may not seize a person who visits a suspected 

drug house simply because he was there early in the morning and stayed 

only two minutes. 170 Wn.2d at 63; see also State v. Gleason, 70 Wn. 

App. 13, 18, 851 P.2d 731 (1993) (officers lacked reasonable suspicion to 

detain suspect merely because he was seen leaving an apartment complex 

where narcotics had been sold in the past, where suspect had never been 

seen there before, officers did not know what occurred inside the 

apartment, neither officer saw suspect involved in drug deal, and suspect 

was not acting suspiciously or carrying any unusual objects). 

The driver of the Jeep slouched down when Przygocki drove by. 

That conduct may have contributed to a reasonable suspicion that the 
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driver was up to no good, but not Sandoz. Indeed, the driver had parked in 

a no-parking zone. Sandoz was not even in the car at the time. Even if he 

were, "mere proximity to others independently suspected of criminal 

activity does not justify" an investigative detention. State v. Thompson, 

93 Wn.2d 838, 841, 613 P.2d 525 (1980). 

Sandoz's eyes widened when he saw Przygocki and he was 

shaking. 1RP 40. Mere nervousness does not add to the reasonable 

suspicion calculus. See, ~., State v. Barron, 170 Wn. App. 742, 754, 285 

P.3d 231 (2012) ("We assume that many, if not most, people will react 

with a level of nervousness when they are arrested."); United States v. 

I.E.V., 705 F.3d 430, 438 (9th Cir. 2012) (citing cases). Nervousness, 

however, has been recognized as a pertinent factor in determining 

reasonable suspicion when it suggests evasiveness. Illinois v. Wardlow, 

528 U.S. 119, 124, 120 S. Ct. 673, 145 L. Ed. 2d 570 (2000). Sandoz did 

not try to evade Przygocki or attempt to hide anything. Furthermore, it 

was 11 :30 p.m. and dark outside when Sandoz lifted his head and saw 

Przygocki standing next to an illegally parked vehicle he needed to get 

into. 1RP 14, 38-39. Under those circumstances, Sandoz had legitimate 

reason to be nervous and surprised. 
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Przygocki further relied on the fact the driver of the Jeep and 

Sandoz provided conflicting explanations for why they were there. The 

"conflict," if there was one, was not material. The driver said he was there 

"because he received a phone call from one of his friends." lRP 20. 

Sandoz said the driver had given him a ride to collect a debt from the 

woman in the apartment. 1 RP 21, 23. Both events could have been true. 

The driver merely said he received a phone call from Sandoz. He did not 

say when or from where. Sandoz may have called his friend from home 

and asked for a ride to and from the apartment building. 

Furthermore, the trial court found that after stepping out of the Jeep 

upon request, Sandoz told Przygocki he went into the apartment to pay the 

woman back. CP 51 (FOF 14). This is not supported by the evidence. 

Przygocki twice during his testimony said Sandoz explained he was at the 

apartment to get money from the resident. lRP 23, 59. "A trial court's 

erroneous determination of facts, unsupported by substantial evidence, will 

not be binding on appeal." State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 647, 870 P.2d 

313 (1994). For these reasons the explanations did not conflict and did not 

add to reasonable suspicion. 

Przygocki also noted he had authority from the building owner to 

identify and remove persons who did not belong on the property, knew 
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none of the tenants drove a Jeep, and had never seen the Jeep there. lRP 

51, 58, 60-61. He ended up trespassing each of the three occupants of the 

Jeep as well as Sandoz, but not until after arresting him for cocaine 

possession. lRP 43-44,60. 

A brief discussion of State v. Little is in order at this point. In 

Little, police officers were dispatched to the Lakeshore Village 

Apartments to investigate a report of a group of juveniles loitering on the 

grounds of the apartment complex. 116 Wn.2d 488, 496, 806 P.2d 749 

(1991). Management of the multiunit complex routinely experienced 

problems with drug and gang activity. Management encircled the complex 

with a fence topped with concertina wire and posted signs prohibiting 

trespassing or loitering throughout the complex. Little, 116 Wn.2d at 490. 

The management also had an agreement with the Seattle Police 

Department to investigate persons suspected of being trespassers. Id. 

A responding officer observed several juveniles in the complex, all 

of whom ran off upon seeing the police. One of them, Little, refused to 

heed an officer's command to stop, and instead ran inside an apartment and 

attempted to close the door in the face of the pursuing officer. The officer 

kept the door open and arrested Little for obstruction. Little, 116 Wn.2d at 
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496. Little was ultimately found guilty of obstruction and trespassing. 

Little, 116 Wn.2d at 493. 

He appealed his convictions and challenged the legality of the 

police order to stop. Id. at 495. The Supreme Court held the 

circumstances known to the officer, the trespass investigation agreement, 

the report of loitering juveniles, the many posted signs warning against 

loitering, and Little's flight, were sufficient to justify the investigative 

detention. Id. at 496. 

As the Little Court held, the trespass agreement was a factor 

supporting the officer's reasonable suspicion, but did not itself justify the 

detention. In contrast to Little, Sandoz did nothing inherently suspicious 

before he was seized. Furthermore, Przygocki did not recognize Sandoz, 

his cohorts, or their vehicle and therefore had no reason to suspect they 

had been told to stay away from the property. lRP 58. Finally, Przygocki 

saw Sandoz emerge from a resident's apartment after seeing no one enter 

or leave the Jeep for 15 minutes. The reasonable inference was that 

Sandoz visited the apartment resident for that period of time. Visiting the 

resident of an apartment under these circumstances can hardly be 

considered "trespassing." 

13 



Przygocki also testified he believed he had seen enough to detain 

or arrest Sandoz for drug-related loitering under the SeaTac Municipal 

Code (STMC). lRP 46, 56-57. The provision, STMC § 8.05.380(C), 

makes it unlawful to "loiter in or near any thoroughfare, place open to the 

public, or near any public or private place in a manner and under 

circumstances manifesting the intent to engage in drug-related activity 

contrary to any of the provisions of Chapter 69.41 , 69.50, or 69.52 RCW." 

Appendix B. 

"Loiter" is not defined in the STMC or the Revised Code of 

Washington. There are several dictionary definitions, the most pertinent 

of which is "to remain in or near a place in an idle or apparently idle 

manner: hang around aimlessly or as if aimlessly." Webster's Third New 

International Dictionary 1331 (1993). Sandoz did not loiter; he remained 

inside the apartment and out of Przygocki's view. When he emerged from 

the apartment, he approached and entered the Jeep. He did not act "in a 

manner and under circumstances manifesting the intent to engage in drug

related activity." Przygocki may have believed he had a reason to detain 

Sandoz for drug traffic loitering, but his belief was mistaken. The 

existence of a drug-related loitering ordinance was not relevant to 

determining the propriety of the detention. 
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Considered individually and collectively, the circumstances 

presented to Przygocki at the time he asked Sandoz to get out of the Jeep 

did not support a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. His eventual 

discovery of cocaine was thus unlawful. The cocaine must be suppressed. 

See Duncan, 146 Wn.2d at 176 ("The exclusionary rule mandates the 

suppression of evidence gathered through unconstitutional means. "). 

Without the seized evidence, the state cannot sustain the charge. This 

Court should therefore reverse the trial court's denial of Polk's motion to 

suppress, reverse the conviction, and remand for dismissal with prejudice. 

State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 17-18,948 P.2d 1280 (1997). 

2. THE OFFICER DID NOT HAVE PROBABLE CAUSE 
TO "ARREST" SANDOZ FOR POSSESSION OF DRUG 
PARAPHERNALIA BECAUSE MERE POSSESSION IS 
NOT A CRIME. 

The trial court found Przygocki arrested Sandoz for 

"Possession/Use of Drug Paraphernalia" and that the search of Sandoz's 

person was incident to arrest. CP 51 (FOF 15). The court concluded 

Przygocki had probable cause to arrest Sandoz for Use/Possession of Drug 

Paraphernalia. CP 54 (COL (d)). Possession of drug paraphernalia is not 

a crime, and Przygocki did not see Sandoz use paraphernalia in his 

presence. Przygocki's arrest was therefore unlawful. 
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Possession of drug paraphernalia is not a crime. State v. Rose, 175 

Wn.2d 10, 19,282 P.3d 1087 (2012); State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 

583-84 n.8, 62 P.3d 489 (2003); State v. Neeley, 113 Wn. App. 100, 107, 

52 P.3d 539 (2002). While use of drug paraphernalia is a misdemeanor, 

RCW 69.50.412(1), Sandoz did not use the pipe found in his pocket in 

Przygocki's presence. Przygocki therefore could not have arrested Sandoz 

for possessing the pipe. RCW 10.31.100; O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d at 583-84 

n.8. See State v. Ortega, 177 Wn.2d 116, 124,297 P.3d 57 (2013) (officer 

who was not present when Ortega committed acts that established 

probable cause to arrest him for drug-traffic loitering had no lawful 

authority to arrest Ortega). Cf., Neeley, 113 Wn. App. at 1 08 (combined 

facts of Neeley's presence in a parked car at 2 a.m. in an area known for 

high rates of drug and prostitution activity, with her head "bobbing up and 

down as if she was ingesting or concealing something," and drug 

paraphernalia lying on the passenger seat, raised reasonable inference that 

she used paraphernalia to ingest a controlled substance). 

Because Przygocki could not lawfully arrest Sandoz for possession 

of paraphernalia, he could not search him "incident to arrest," as the trial 

court found. CP 51 (FOF 15). Instead, the search of Sandoz's person 

could not exceed that of a protective frisk for weapons. An officer may 
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briefly frisk a suspect for weapons during an investigative detention only if 

he reasonably believes his safety or that of others is at risk. State v. 

Garvin, 166 Wn.2d 242, 250, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009). Przygocki had no

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