NO. 69913-0-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN SANDOZ,

Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE BETH ANDRUS

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG  
King County Prosecuting Attorney

JENNIFER P. JOSEPH  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney  
W554 King County Courthouse  
516 3rd Avenue  
Seattle, Washington 98104  
(206) 296-9650

##

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

Whether police have seized a person is a mixed question of law and fact. State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 9, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997). The trial court's factual findings concerning the

---

<sup>3</sup> The State is entitled to argue any grounds to affirm the trial court's decision that are supported by the record without filing a cross-appeal. State v. Sims, 171 Wn.2d 436, 442-43, 256 P.3d 285 (2011).

circumstances of the encounter are entitled to great deference, but “the ultimate determination of whether those facts constitute a seizure is one of law and is reviewed de novo.” Id. Not every encounter between an officer and an individual amounts to a seizure. Under Washington’s constitution, a seizure occurs only when “considering all the circumstances, an individual’s freedom of movement is restrained and the individual would not believe he or she is free to leave or decline a request due to an officer’s use of force or display of authority.” State v. Rankin, 151 Wn.2d 689, 695, 92 P.3d 202 (2004) (citing State v. O’Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 574, 62 P.3d 489 (2003)). The standard is “a purely objective one, looking to the actions of the law enforcement officer.” State v. Young, 135 Wn.2d 498, 512, 957 P.2d 681 (1998). The relevant question is whether a reasonable person in the defendant’s position would feel that he or she was being detained. O’Neill, 148 Wn.2d at 581. An encounter between a citizen and the police is consensual if a reasonable person under the circumstances would feel free to walk away. United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554, 100 S. Ct. 1870, 64 L. Ed. 2d 497 (1980). The defendant bears the burden of proving that an unlawful seizure occurred. Young, 135 Wn.2d at 512.

Indicators of seizure include “the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer’s request might be compelled.” Young, 135 Wn.2d at 512 (quoting Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 554-55). “In the absence of some such evidence, otherwise inoffensive contact between a member of the public and the police cannot, as a matter of law, amount to a seizure of that person.” Id.

Here, the record establishes that Deputy Przygocki was already speaking with the occupants of a previously-parked car when Sandoz joined the group. Deputy Przygocki testified that he asked Sandoz, “Would you like to voluntarily come outside and speak with me?” 1RP 42. Sandoz voluntarily exited the vehicle, and the two walked only a few feet away from the passenger door. 1RP 22. The unchallenged findings establish that “[t]he deputy did not order the defendant out of the vehicle or attempt to touch his weapon,” that “[t]he deputy was the only law enforcement officer present,” that the deputy’s demeanor during the encounter was “calm and even toned,” and that the deputy believed the contact was voluntary. CP 50-51 (FF 12, 13). The deputy was alone, on

foot, and did not use any lights or sirens to stop Sandoz. He did not order Sandoz from the car, never blocked his movement, and did not touch Sandoz until after Sandoz admitted having a crack pipe in his pocket and agreed to surrender the paraphernalia. Przygocki did not brandish his weapon or use threatening or coercive language in his communications with Sandoz. The record thus demonstrates that Przygocki used no force or display of authority in asking Sandoz to speak privately.

State v. Bailey, 154 Wn. App. 295, 224 P.3d 352 (2010), is instructive. There, a Yakima police officer contacted Bailey, a pedestrian on a public street, and asked to speak with him. 154 Wn. App. at 298. Bailey agreed, and the officer questioned him about where he was going and what he was up to. Id. The officer then asked for identification, and Bailey supplied it, accurately advising the officer that he likely had an outstanding warrant. Id. Division Three of this Court held that the encounter did not amount to a seizure, noting that the officer “did not illuminate spotlight, emergency lights, or siren; asked Mr. Bailey whether he had a minute ..., and then asked only where Mr. Bailey was going and if he had identification.” Id. at 302. Like Bailey, in this case, Sandoz was asked if he would mind talking to the deputy in private,

voluntarily did so, and soon thereafter offered up information justifying arrest on probable cause. Like Bailey, these circumstances do not amount to an unconstitutional seizure.

Noting that the seizure question was a “close call factually,” the court in this case explained that its conclusion that Sandoz was seized was compelled by “the deputy’s testimony that he would have arrested the defendant if the defendant had refused to talk.” 1RP 101; CP 52-53. But “[w]hether a seizure occurs does not turn upon the officer’s suspicions. Whether a person has been restrained by a police officer must be determined based upon the interaction between the person and the officer.” O’Neill, 148 Wn.2d at 575 (emphasis in original); see also State v. Knox, 86 Wn. App. 831, 839, 939 P.2d 710 (1997) (subjective intent of police is irrelevant to the question whether a seizure occurred unless it is conveyed to the defendant). The officer’s suspicions become relevant only “once a seizure occurs, and relate to the question whether the seizure is valid under article I, section 7.” O’Neill, 148 Wn.2d at 576 (emphasis in original). Thus, the trial court’s conclusion that Sandoz was seized because the deputy believed that he had probable cause to arrest Sandoz was erroneous and should be rejected.

b. Deputy Przygocki Had Reasonable Suspicion To Justify A Terry Stop.

Even if Przygocki seized Sandoz by asking him to speak outside the Jeep, the trial court correctly concluded that an investigatory stop was justified under the totality of the circumstances. The drugs discovered during the encounter were therefore admissible and this Court should affirm.

Brief investigatory "Terry" stops are well-established exceptions to the general rule that warrantless seizures are unconstitutional. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 30-31, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968); State v. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d 738, 746-47, 64 P.3d 594 (2003). A Terry stop is justified when an officer has specific and articulable facts that give rise to a reasonable suspicion that the person stopped has been, or is about to be, involved in a crime. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d at 747. A reasonable suspicion is the "substantial possibility that criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur." State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986). "The reasonableness of the officer's suspicion is determined by the totality of the circumstances known

to the officer at the inception of the stop.” State v. Rowe, 63 Wn. App. 750, 753, 822 P.2d 290 (1991), overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Bailey, 109 Wn. App. 1, 3, 34 P.3d 239 (2000). The totality of the circumstances includes factors such as the officer’s training and experience, the location of the stop, the conduct of the person detained, the purpose of the stop, the amount of physical intrusion upon the suspect’s liberty, and the length of time the suspect is detained. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d at 747.

Sandoz contends that Deputy Przygocki lacked reasonable suspicion to conduct a Terry stop by asking him to speak outside of the vehicle. He points to several of the circumstances leading to the stop and evaluates them independently to argue that none of them gave rise to a reasonable suspicion. See Brief of Appellant at 9-12. But the question is not whether any of the circumstances independently justified an investigative stop, but whether the combination of all of these factors gave Deputy Przygocki reasonable and articulable suspicion that Sandoz was involved in criminal activity. Rowe, 63 Wn. App. at 753.

Deputy Przygocki testified that he suspected Sandoz and the other Jeep occupants of drug-related loitering. 1RP 46, 58-60. The SeaTac Municipal Code prohibits loitering “under circumstances

manifesting the intent to engage in drug-related activity[.]”  
STMC 8.05.930(C)(1). Circumstances that manifest such an intent include that a “person behaves in such a manner as to raise a reasonable suspicion that he or she is about to engage in or is then engaged in an unlawful drug-related activity,” “[t]he area involved is by public repute known to be an area of unlawful drug use and trafficking,” and “[t]he premises involved are known to have been reported to law enforcement as a place of suspected drug activity.”  
STMC 8.05.930(C)(2)(c), (h), (i).

Przygocki encountered Sandoz in an area of frequent, documented illegal activity, in which “the sale and possession of narcotics, stolen vehicles, warrant arrests, and vehicle prowls have all been prevalent[.]” 1RP 15. This particular complex had been designated a “problem solving project” because of an “unbelievable” number of calls for service and “hundreds of documented criminal incidents that occurred there.” Id. Neighbors had reported “heavy foot and vehicle traffic coming from certain apartments,” and deputies had confirmed the reports through observation. Id. As a result of the rampant criminal activity, the complex’s owner had given deputies express authority to trespass any non-occupants loitering on the premises. 1RP 42-43, 51.

When Przygocki drove by the illegally parked Jeep in his marked patrol car, the driver slouched down to avoid being seen. The Jeep and its occupants remained in the no-parking fire zone for 10 to 15 minutes with no apparent purpose before Przygocki approached. The Jeep's driver did not explain why he tried to slump out of view, but said that he was waiting to pick Sandoz up from the complex. Przygocki then saw Sandoz emerge from Meadows's apartment. Meadows was a known drug dealer with a history of convictions for possession with intent to distribute, and Przygocki had personally observed "upwards of 60 different people coming and going" from her apartment. 1RP 15. Sandoz was startled to see the deputy; his eyes widened and he was visibly shaking and pale. He then explained that the driver had given him a ride to the complex. Przygocki testified that Sandoz's explanation contradicted the driver's story. 1RP 21.

Together, these circumstances gave rise to a reasonable suspicion that Sandoz was engaged in drug-related activity and thus justified a Terry stop to investigate a violation of the STMC. They also distinguish this case from State v. Doughty, 170 Wn.2d 57, 239 P.3d 572 (2010), on which Sandoz primarily relies.

In Doughty, our supreme court held that a person's late-night, short-stay visit to a suspected drug house did not justify a traffic stop. 170 Wn.2d at 64. But there, the police based their suspicions about the house on nothing but neighbor complaints; there was no "actual evidence of drugs, controlled buys, reports of known drug users or dealers frequenting the house, and so forth." Id. at 60. In contrast, the complex at issue here – and Meadows's apartment in particular – was the scene of numerous documented criminal incidents including drug sales, and Meadows was a known drug dealer with a history of VUCSA convictions. As Justice Chambers pointed out in his concurrence, had such evidence existed in Doughty, it would likely have changed the court's analysis. Id. at 65 (Chambers, J., concurring).

Sandoz also relies on State v. Gleason, 70 Wn. App. 13, 18, 851 P.2d 731 (1993), in which Division Three of this Court held it improper to seize a person merely for exiting an apartment complex that had a history of drug trafficking. But in Gleason, the "officers' suspicion of criminal activity was based solely on [the Caucasian] Mr. Gleason's presence at an apartment complex where the tenants were primarily Hispanic." 70 Wn. App. at 18. The officers did not see Gleason engage in any drug transaction, did not

observe him acting suspiciously, and had no basis to arrest him for loitering. Id. at 18.

This case is nothing like Gleason. First, Przygocki did not rely on racial incongruity to justify a seizure. Second, unlike Gleason, Przygocki did not merely see Sandoz “leaving an apartment complex where narcotics had been sold in the past,” 70 Wn. App. at 18. Rather, he saw Sandoz leaving the apartment of a known drug dealer in a complex where narcotics trafficking and other crime were so rampant that the complex was singled out as a “problem solving project” and the complex owner authorized police to trespass any non-occupants loitering on the premises. Although Przygocki did not see Sandoz engage in any drug transaction, Sandoz’s reaction to seeing the officer, and his and the driver’s contradictory explanations for his presence, were suspicious. Moreover, the Jeep’s loitering occupants were waiting there at Sandoz’s request, and the driver himself behaved suspiciously upon seeing the officer. These facts provide the reasonable and articulable suspicion found lacking in Gleason.

Sandoz contends there is no basis in the record for the trial court’s finding that he and the driver provided inconsistent explanations for their presence. Brief of Appellant at 11. He is

mistaken. Deputy Przygocki testified that Sandoz's explanation "that his friend had given him a car ride to collect \$20 from Ms. Meadows ... was contradicting what his friend had told me." 1RP 21. Although Przygocki did not fully articulate the inconsistency,<sup>4</sup> the deputy's testimony that he understood the two explanations as contradictory supports the trial court's finding. Together with Przygocki's observations of Sandoz's startled reaction to seeing the officer and Sandoz's late-night visit to a known drug dealer's apartment while his friends loitered in a no-parking zone, the finding that Sandoz provided a different explanation than the driver gave Przygocki reasonable suspicion to justify an investigatory stop.

Sandoz also argues that Przygocki lacked reasonable suspicion to investigate him for drug-related loitering because he was visiting Meadows, not loitering. But when Sandoz left Meadows's apartment, he entered the Jeep, the occupants of which were observed "remain[ing] in or near a place in an idle or apparently idle manner" – the dictionary definition of "loiter" that

---

<sup>4</sup> The contradiction is better described in Przygocki's written report. Przygocki testified that the driver explained that "Mr. Sandoz called him for a ride." 1RP 20. In his written report, Przygocki gives additional details: "[The driver] stated that he received a call from ... Sandoz to pick him up from the apartment complex and was just waiting for him." Pretrial Ex. 1 at 4 (emphasis added). This exhibit was marked for identification but not admitted during the pretrial hearing.

Sandoz adopts.<sup>5</sup> Brief of Appellant at 14. The Jeep's occupants were clearly loitering,<sup>6</sup> and were reportedly doing so at Sandoz's request. This fact contributed to Przygocki's reasonable suspicion that Sandoz was also involved in unlawful activity.

Given the totality of the circumstances, the trial court correctly concluded that Deputy Przygocki had reasonable suspicion that Sandoz was engaging in illegal drug activities, which justified an investigative stop. This Court should affirm.

2. DEPUTY PRZYGOCKI HAD PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST SANDOZ FOR POSSESSION OF DRUG PARAPHERNALIA UNDER THE SEATAC MUNICIPAL CODE.

Sandoz contends that the deputy lacked probable cause to arrest him for possession of drug paraphernalia because possession of drug paraphernalia is not a crime. Brief of Appellant at 15. He is mistaken, but as he failed to preserve the claim, this Court need not address the issue.

---

<sup>5</sup> As Sandoz points out, neither the Revised Code of Washington nor the STMC defines "loitering."

<sup>6</sup> Indeed, Przygocki testified that he suspected all of the Jeep's occupants of drug loitering, and he issued trespass warnings to all of them. 1RP 58-60.

Sandoz did not raise this claim below.<sup>7</sup> Sandoz argued that the Terry stop that preceded the arrest was unlawful, but not that his arrest for possession of drug paraphernalia was unsupported by probable cause. CP 6-15; 1RP 71-82. He therefore waived any claim with respect to probable cause for the arrest, and this Court should decline to address it. RAP 2.5(a); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333-34, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); State v. Trujillo, 153 Wn. App. 454, 458-59, 222 P.3d 129 (2009).

In any event, under the SeaTac Municipal Code, “[i]t is unlawful for any person to use, or possess with intent to use, drug paraphernalia to ... inhale or otherwise introduce into the human body a controlled substance.” STMC 8.05.380(B). “Probable cause exists when the arresting officer is aware of facts or circumstances, based upon reasonably trustworthy information, sufficient to cause a reasonable officer to believe a crime has been committed.” State v. Gaddy, 152 Wn.2d 64, 70, 93 P.3d 872 (2004). Once Sandoz admitted that he had a crack pipe in his

---

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